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Complainant,
PERB Case No. 07-U-10

Opinion No. 932

Distriot of Columbia Metropolitan Police
Department,

Respondent.

DECISION AND ORDER

Statement of the Case

This case involves an Unfair Labor Practice Complaint ("Complaint ') filed by the
Fraternal Order of Policey'Metropolitan Police Department Labor Committee
('Complainant'' or "FOP") against the District of Columbia Metropolitan Police
Department ('Respondent" or "MPD"). FOP alleges that MPD violated D.C. Code $ l-
617.0a(a)(l) of the Comprehensive Merit Personnel Act ('CMPA) by denying
bargaining unit membersr union representation during questioning by MPD's Offrce of
Internal Affairs ('OIA'). MPD filed an Answer denying the allegations and contending
that the police officers were not entitled to union representation on tlte ground that the
OIA investigatiofi was not administratjve.

A hearing was held in this matter on June 28, 2007. Hearing Examiner Leonard
M. Wagman issued his Report and Recommendation ("R&R') on August 28,2OO7. In
his R&\ the Hearing Examiner concluded that MPD did not violate the CMPA because
the police officers were not entitled to union representation during criminal exploratory
questioning. The Hearing Examiner recommended that the Board dismiss tlte Complaint.

I Specifically, the afiected bargaining unit members described in the Complaint were First Disrid Police
Ofhcers Phuson Nguyen, Richard Mazloom, Amy Oliv4 Keri Long and Richmond Phillips.
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FOP filed exceptions ("Exceptions") to the Hearing Examiner's R&R' I\Pq

filed a Response to FoP's Exceptions. The Hearing Examiner's Report and

Recommendition, FOP's Exceptions and MPD's Response are before the Board for

disposition.

tr. Background

Agent Guillermo Rivera of the OId was investigating a complaint against, a
police offrcer who had allegedly confined and handcuffed a civilian to a patrol wagon for
over two hours. (See R&R at p. 3)- The civilian told Agent Rivera that the officer had

been rough with him and had attempted to e)ftort money from him. (See R&R at p 3)'
Agent Rivera was able to identi$ the ofiicer and other police officers who may have

witnessed the incident. Agent Rivera directed First Distriot Police Officers Phuson
Nguyen, Richard Mazloom, Amy Oliva, Keri Long and Richmond Phillips to appear at
oiA s oftice for interviews on or about July 31, 2006. In anticipation that they might be
the subject ofa disciplinary investigation, the ofiicers asked the FOP's shop steward for
the First District, Ofiicer Deciutiis, to provide representation at the interviews. (See
R&R at pgs. 3 and 6).

The parties' Collective Bargaining Agreement (.'CBA')' Article 13 -

Investigatory Questioning - describes three types of formal questioning conducted by
MPD; administrative interview; criminal interview; and interrogation. Article 13
describes administrative interview as "[flormal official questioning conducted by the
Department to question an employee about an administrative matter." Article 13 defines
criminal interview as "[f]ormal o{Iicial questioning conducted by the Department about a
criminal matter, wh€re the member has not been identified as a target." Article 13
defines interrogation as "[f]ormal ofticial questioning conducted by the Department of a
member who has bee4 or may be, identified as a target of a criminal investigation."
Article 13 permits a FOP representative to be present at all administrative interviews, but
not at criminal interviews or interrogations.

Officer Deciutiis met the officers at the OIA office. The first scheduled interview
was with OIficer Mazloom. When it was time for the first interview, Ofiicer Deciutiis
identified himself as a FOP representative for Ofiicer Mazloom. (See R&R at pgs 34)
Agent Rivera informed Officer Deciutiis that the offtcer was not entitled to union
representation and that he would explain why during the interview (See R&R at p 4)
The interview proceeded without Offrcer Deciutiis. During the interview, Agent Rivera
explained to Oflicer Mazloom that he was conducting a criminal investigation and was
attempting to determine if Officer Mazloom was a potential witness. (See R&R at p. 4)
During the questioning Agent Rivera determined that Ofticer Mazloom did not possess
any information that aided his investigation. (See R&R at p 4). The interview with
Offioer Mazloom concluded and Agent Rivera began to call another ofticer for an
interview. Officer Deciutiis intervened again, and insisted he be present for the next
interview. Agent Rivera rejected Offrcer Deciutiis' request and would not discuss the
nature of the interview with either OIIicer Deciutiis or another FOP official, Kristopher
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Baumann. Again, Agent Rivera explained that each oflicer would be informed of the
nature ofthe questioning during the interview. (See R&R at p. 4). During the interviews,
Agent Rivera informed the officers that they were not the target of the criminal
investigation. (See R&R at pgs. 4-5).

At the unfair labor practice hearing, the FOP argued that MPD violated D.C- Code
$ l-617.04(aX1f of the CMPA by refusing to permit Officer Deciutiis to represent the
police officers involved in this case during the interviews which took place on July 31,
2006. (See R&R at p. 5). FOP claimed that Board precedent pmvides that an offrcer is
entitled to union representation when there is a reasonable belief that discipline may
result from an interview.' (See R&R at p 5) FOP asked that the Hearing Examiner
apply the reasoning of the United States Supreme Court in National Labot Relations
Board v. Weingarten,42O U.S. 251" 262 (1975).

that Sections 7 and 8(a)(l) ofthe National Labor Relations
Act, as amended, 29 U.S.C. Sections 157 and 158(a)(l),
guarantee and protect the right of an employee to the
presenc€ of "a union representative at an investigatory

i*rl** 
in which the risk of discipline reasonably inheres

MPD countered that the evidence fails to show that the ofticers to be interviewed
by Agent Rivera on July 31" had a reasonable belief that the questioning would lead to
disciplinary action against them. (See R&R at p. 5).

m. Ecaring Examiner's Report and Recommendation, FOP's Exceptions and
MPD's Opposition.

Based on the pleadings, the record developed at the hearing and the pa*ies' post
hearing briefs, the Hearing Examiner identified two issues for resolution. These issues,
his findings and recoinmendations are as follows:

The Hearing Examiner considered the application of the Weingarten standard to
the pres€nt case. The Hearing Examiner found that the o{Iicers 'fea{ed] that they might
be involved in an administrative investigation which might impact adversely upon their
employment . . [and] asked Shop Stewart Deciutiis to be with them." (R&R at p 6)
However, the Hearing Examiner also found that at the inception of each ofthe officers'

'D.C. Code $ l{17.04(axr) provides in part that:

(a) The Distric! its agenls, and representalives are prohibited fiom:

( l) Interfedng, resfaining, or coercing any employee in the exercise of the righls
guarante€d by this subchapter;

3 Se D.C. Nurses Assoc. v- D-C. Health and Hospitals Public Beneft Corp-, 45 DCR6736, SIip Op No-
558, PERB Case Nos. 95-U-03, 97-U-16 and 97-U-2E (199E).
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interviews" he or she had been informed that they were not the target of a criminal
investigation and, therefore, had no reasonable belief that discipline would result from
being questioned. (See R&R at pgs. 5-6). In addition, the Hearing Examiner found that
the officers in this case were not given any feason to believe that the interviews were
administrative in nature. (See R&R at pgs. 5-6), The Hearing Examiner also pointed out
that Agent Rivera had informed each of the oflicers during the interview that the
questioning was not administrative, but concerned a criminal investigation. (See R&R at
p. 5). Based on these findings the Hearing Examiner concluded that the officers were not
entitled to union representation during the interviews. (See R&R at p. 6). The Hearing
Examiner also concluded that MPD had not interfered with, restrained or coerced any of
the oflicers in the exercise of their right to union representation protected by rhe CMPA.
The Hearing Examiner recommended that the Complaint be dismissed.

1. Union Reprcsentation

FOP's first exception to the Hearing Examiner's R&R states that'[t]he Hearing
Examiner Failed to Conectly Apply His Findings of Fact to the Weingarten Standard."
(Exoeptions at p. 8). FOP argues that despite the fact that the Hearing Examiner found
thax the officers feared the interview might result in discipline, he failed to reach the
conclusion required by Weingmten. (See Exceptions at p 9). FOP asserts tlnt the
Weingmten standard allows for union representation at the time it is requested, and its
denial cannot be cured after the interview has commenced. (See Exceptions at p. l0)-

In its second exceptio4 FOP argues that "[t]he Hearing Examiner Failed to
Recognize that the Union Representative was Needed During the Interview Beoause the
Nature of the Investigation Was Not Conv€yed Before the Interview Began." @xception
at pgs. 8 and I l). FOP contends that even ifthe investigation was criminal in nature, tlte
officers should have been allowed union reoresentation until the offtcers were informed
ofthe nature ofthe interview.

MPD counters tlrat the Hearing Examiner properly applied Weingarten to the
facts of this case. (See Opposition at p. 6). In support of its argument, MPD cites to the
Hearing Examiner's finding that none of the officers had a reason to believe that
discipline could result from the interviews. (See Opposition at p. 6). MPD contends that
the record reasonably supports the Hea.ring Examiner's finding. (See Opposition at p. 7).
Consequently, MPD asserts that there was no Weingarten violation. (See Opposition pgs.
7-8)

In NLRB v. Weingarten, the United States Supreme Court upheld the NLRB's
determination that an employee has a right to union representation during an
investigatory interview that the employee reasonably fears might rezult in discipline. The
NLRB had held that an employer "interfered with, restrained and coerced the individual
right of an employee 'to engage in . . . concerted activities for . . . mutual aid and
protection . . . .' in situations where the employee requests representation asa
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condition of participation in an interview . . . where the employee reasonably believes the

investigation will result in disciplinary action;' Id at p. 257 -

Like the NLRA the CMPA at D.C. Code $ 1617 0a(a)(1), also prohibits the

District, ils agents and representatives from interfering with, restmining or coercing any
employee in the exercise of their rights. This Board has recognized a right to union

representation during a disciplinary interview in accordance with the standards set forth
in Weingarten. l; D.C. Nurses, vpra, the Board recognized the right to union
representation during a disciplinary interview. In that case, we found the agency
inierfered with, resirained and coerced the employee by threatening discipline for
requesting union representation.

Here, the Hearing Examiner first found that the officers feared that the interview
may result in disciplinary action and therefore requested union representation. These
findings are amply supported by the record. The Hearing Examiner found that it was
only ifter the offi""rr\,l/ere denied representafion that they were informed that they were
not the subject of the investigation. This finding is also supported by the record. Faced
with these facts, the Hearing Examiner concluded that the denial of representation was
cured. (See R&R at p. 6).

The Board rejects the Hearing Examiner's recommendation that the ofticers' right
to union representation was cured when the OffiCers were infOrmed that they were not the
target of the investigation. The right to representation attaches when an employee
reaionably fears discipline might arise from an inlerview and fequests repres€ntation. By
denying union representation at that point, t}e Board concludes that MPD's actions
constitute a violation of D.C. Code $ l-617.04(a)(l).

2. The Parties' CBA

In its opposition, MPD further claims that FOP's allegations conoern a violation
of the parties' CBA and, therefore, the Board lacks jurisdiction.' MPD asserts thal
Article 13 of the parties' CBd rather than the CMPA" establishes an employee's right to
representation during investigatory questioning. (See Opposition at p. 8)- MPD argues
that the pafties' CBA provides a grievance and arbitration mechanism as the exclusive
remedy for contract violations.6 (5ee Opposition at p. 8). MPD asserts that even ifthe

o Citing National t abor Relatiors Act ("NLRA"), 29 U.S.C. $$ 157 and 158(axl).

5 In support of this position MPD crtes AFSCME Local 2921 v. Districl of columbia Public schools, 42
DCR 5685, Slip Op. No. 339, PERB Cas€ No. 92-U48 (1992)', Butler, Slappv, Battle' Benning, Busby,
Simpson, and Byrd v- District of Columbia Department of Corrections and Anthony lvilliams, 49 DCP.

1152, Slip Op. No. 673, PEP.B Case No. 02-U42 (2002). Th€ Board held in these cases that it (and

therefore the Hearing E>randner) is withoutjuisdiction to nrte on whether an agency's conduct constitut€s
a violation of its contractual obligations.

u See Article I 9 of rhe parties, CBA which prwides details on the gdevance and artitration procedues.
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Board has jurisdiction over this matter, Agent Rivera acted in accordance with th€

parties' cBi by informing the officers at the interview ofthe nature ofthe investigation

and that they were not the target of the investigation. In additio4 MPD states that Agent

Rivera's refusal to permit ilr- union members to attend the interview is consistent witlt

Article 13, Section 3$) of the parties' CBA, which prohibits union representation during

a criminal interview. (See Opposition at p. 9).

As stared above, the GMPA at D.C. Code $ 1-Ot7.0a(axl), prohibits the District,

its agents and representatives from interfering wit[ restraining or coercing any employee
in rf,e exercise of their rights. D.C. Code t-617.0a($(5) p,rotects afld enforces,

respectively, these employee rights and employer obligations by making their violation

an unfair la6or practice. However, "[i]n determining a violation of this obligation, the

Board has always made a distinction between obligations that a.re statutorily imposed
under the CMPA and those obligations that are contractually agreed'upon between the
parties. The GMPA provides for the resolution of the former, [the Board has] stated,

while the parties have contractually provided for the resolution ofthe lattef, vis-d-vis, the
grievance and arbitration process contained in their collective bargaining agreement. [The
Board hasl concluded, therefore that they lack jurisdiction over alleged violations that af,e

strictly contractual in natwe." American Federation of StAe, County atd Municipal
Employees, D.C. Council 20, Local 2921 v. District of Cohmbia Public Schools, supra at
p. i. See also, Washingion Teachers' {Jnion. Local 6, American Federalion of Teachers,
AFL-CIO v. District oJColumbia Public Schools,42 DCR 5488, Slip Op. No' 337, PERB
Case No. 92-U-18 e|g4: AFSCME lacal 2921 v. District of Columbia Public Schools,
42 DCR 5685, Slip bp. t'lo. :f e, PERB Case No. 92-U-08 (1992); Butler, Slappy' Banle,
Benning, Busby, Simpson, and Byrd v. Distict of Columbia Department of Conections
andAnihonyWlliams,4g DCR 1152, Slip Op. No. 673, PERB CaseNo. O2-U-02(2002)

In the present case, the Board has found nothing in the record which indicates that
the Union is asserting a contractual violation as the basis for its Complaint. Furthermore,
although the Hearing Examiner makes reference to Article 13 of the parties' CBd he
makes no finding that the Union's allegations are premised on a violation of the parties'

CBA. The Board believes that the obligations in the instant case are statutory in nature,
particularly the question of whether the employees had a right to replesentation under
b.C. Code $ 1-61?.04(a)(l). Consequently, the Board rejects MPD'S claim tlat the
Board lacks jurisdiction over tlle matter. MPD'S claim that Agent Rivera acted. in
accordance wilh the CBA is also rejected. Whether Agent Rivera believed he was acting
in accordance with the CBA does not relieve MPD of its statutory obligations

ORDER

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED TIIATI

1 . The District of Columbia Metropolitan Police Department (l\PD') its agents and
representatives shall cease and desist from violating D.C. Code $ l-617'04(a)(1)
of the Comprehensive Merit Personnel Act C'CMPC') by interfering with,
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restraining, or coercing employees in the exercise ofthe rights guafanteed undef

the CMPA.

2. MPD, its agents and repres€ntatives shall cease and from violating D-C Code $ l-

617 04(aX4) by denying union members representation by tbe union auring 1n
investigatory interview in which the union member reasonably believes the

interview may result in disciplinary action or any other protected activity under
D.C. Code $ l-617 oa(a)(a).

3. MPD shall conspicuously post within ten (10) days from service ofthis Decision

and Order the attached Notice where notices to employees are normally posted'

The Notices shall remain posted for thirty (30) consecutive days-

4. MPD shall notiSr the Public Employee Relations Board ('Board"), in writing
within fourteen (14) days from the date ofthis Decision and Order that the Notioe
has been posted accordingly.

5. Pursuant to Board Rule 559.1, and for purposes of D.C Code $ 1-61?.13(c)'this
Decision and Order is effective and final upon issuance

BY ORDEROF THE PUBLIC EMPLOYEE RELATIONS BOARI)
Washington, D.C.

February 20, 2008
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District of Columbia Metropolitan police Department

Date: By:
Chiefofpolice

This. Notice must remain posted for thirty (30) conserutiye days from the date ofposting and must not be altered, defaced or covereO by any other material.

:T.T:l"l::ll*:-any 
questions concerning this Notice or compriance with any of itsprovrslons' they may communicate directry with the public Empioyee Rerations Board,whose address is: 7'17 74h Street, N.W. Suite t t 50, Waslington,-O C ZOOOS. pfrone:

Q02)727-1822. Fu<: (2O2) 727- s116.

BY ORDER OF'THE PUBLIC EMPLOYEE RELATIONS BOARI)
Washington, D.C.
February 20, 2OOB

CE
TO ALL EMPLOYEES OF TIIE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA METROPOLITAN
POLICE DEPARTMENT THIS OFFICIAL NOTICE IS POSTED BY ORDER OFTFIE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA PUBLIC ETWTOiEB RELATIONS BOARD.PURSUANT TO ITS DECISION AND ORDER IN SLIP OPIMON NO 932, PERBcAsE NO. 07-u- 10 (FEBRUARY 20, 2008)

WE HEREBY NOTIFY our employees that the District of Columbia public EmployeeRelations Board has found that we viorated the raw and has ordered us to post this notile.'

wE WILL cease and desist riom viorating D.c. code g r-617 04(axr) bv the action anaconduct set forth in Slip Opinion No. 932,

wE WILL cease and desist from refusing to bargain in good faith with the Fraternal
*1::ll*,1t:ropotiran 

police Depaiment riuor io**itt"" (..Fop,,or..un;ori,j,
oy oenylng unron members representation by the union during an investigatory intervi#in which the union member reasonably believes the interview may resurt in disciprinaryaction or any other protecred activity u;der D.c. C"a, { i_it z.Oa(a)(a)

KY:_-a,IOT, 
in any like or relared-manner interfere, restrain or coerce, employees inrnerr exercrse ot'rights guaranteed by subchapter xvlr-Labor-Manug"r"ni Reiatilns, ofthe District of Columbia Comprehensive Merit perro*"1 Act.


